IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-00316

LEANORA MCCLAIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CARLTON MCCLAIN, DECEASED

APPELLANTS

V.

STEVEN B. CLARK, M.D., BENNIE B. WRIGHT, M.D., TARENCE E. WADE, M.D., BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER, AND JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-5

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CHARLES M. MERKEL, JR., MERKEL & COCKE Post Office Box 1388 30 Delta Avenue Clarksdale, MS 38614 Telephone: (662) 627-9641 Facsimile: (662) 627-3592

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) Whether serving the Defendants with a certificate of consultation and providing the Defendants with Plaintiff's consulting expert's opinion pursuant to <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (7)</u>, prior to the filing of the Complaint, is sufficient compliance with the provisions of the statute so as to avoid the dismissal with prejudice of her medical malpractice claims against the Defendants?

(2) Whether McClain's claims are now time-barred by the two (2) year medical malpractice statute of limitations as codified at <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (2)</u>, as amended?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action seeking monetary damages for the May 17, 2004, wrongful death of Carlton McClain which resulted from negligent medical care and treatment rendered to McClain by Dr. Steven G. Clark, Dr. Bennie B. Wright, Dr. Tarence E. Wade and Bolivar Medical Center. (R. 1)

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

On December 29, 2005, the Plaintiff sent the Defendants her Notice of Claim, which gave the Defendants sixty days prior written notice of her intention to file a medical malpractice lawsuit pursuant to <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (15)</u>. (R. 135-138, R.E. 6) On December 29, 2005, pursuant to <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58</u>, the Plaintiff forwarded the Defendants her Certificate of Review, confirming that she had reviewed the facts of the case and consulted with an expert, and based upon such review and consultation that there is a reasonable basis for the lawsuit. (R. 139, R.E. 7)

On April 7, 2006, the Plaintiff filed a wrongful death Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi against Dr. Steven G. Clark, Dr. Bennie B. Wright, Dr. Tarence E. Wade, and Bolivar Medical Center alleging medical negligence and gross negligence in the treatment and care of Plaintiff's husband. (R. 1) On April 17, the Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint. (S.V.2: 2)

On May 30, 2006, Dr. Clark filed a Motion to Dismiss alleging he was an employee of Delta Regional Medical Center, a community hospital and the Plaintiff's claims were barred by the one year statute of limitations. (R. 27-28)

1

On June 2, 2006, Dr. Wright filed a Motion, Defenses and Separate Answer. (R. 46) Defendant's Motion to Dismiss was on the grounds that Plaintiff failed to give proper written notice as required by the Mississippi Malpractice Tort Reform Act. (R. 46)

On June 9, 2006, Dr. Wade filed his Answer and Motion to Dismiss alleging the complaint fails to state a cause of action, insufficiency of notice and statute of limitations contained in <u>§ 15-1-36</u>, <u>Mississippi Code of 1971</u>, insufficiency of process, insufficiency of service of process, Plaintiff failed to comply with the requirements of <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58</u>, and failure to state a claim. (R. 53)

On January 11, 2007, the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Hon. Charles E. Webster presiding, heard oral argument on Dr. Clark's motion. (Tr. 1, R.E. 12). No Order was entered because Counsel for Dr. Clark asked for an additional ten days to submit proof to the Court that Delta Regional Medical Center has ownership interest in the clinic where Dr. Clark works, Cleveland Medical Clinic. (Tr. 55-56, R.E. 12) The Defendant never provided this proof to the Court.

On February 9, 2007, the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Hon. Charles E. Webster presiding, heard oral argument on the motions of Dr. Wade and Dr. Wright. (Tr. 59, R.E. 12) On February 16, 2007, the circuit court entered an order granting all of the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss. (R. 588-591, R.E. 2) In the order, the circuit court made the following significant findings:

1. This is an action alleging medical malpractice. The action was initially filed April 7, 2006. An Amended Complaint was filed April 17, 2006. It is undisputed that no Certificate as contemplated by Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58(1) accompanied either of the Complaints.

2. The plaintiff asserts that she forwarded the subject Certificate to each of the defendants as an attachment to the Notice of Claim letter(s). The plaintiff makes a compelling argument that she has complied with the purpose of Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58(1), such purpose being to avoid the filing of frivolous lawsuits by requiring the plaintiff's attorney to seek counsel from a qualified medical expert prior to filing a medical malpractice complaint. Certainly, it appears to this court that the plaintiff has complied with the *spirit* of the law. Plaintiff asserts and this court so finds that plaintiff consulted with at least two medical experts prior to filing the instant complaint. The plaintiff also asserts that she provided the defendants, through their respective insurance carriers, a copy of the opinions of her respective experts. Plaintiff does not dispute that no Certificate was attached to either of the complaints *when filed*.

The court however concluded that based upon the Mississippi Supreme Court's holding in <u>Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Ctr., Inc., 931 So.2d 583 (Miss. 2006)</u>, the circuit court is to examine the record to determine compliance or non-compliance. (R. 590) Therefore, based on the holding in <u>Walker</u>, the circuit court found that because the Plaintiff failed to attach a certificate to the complaint, she has failed to strictly comply with the requirements of the statute and her claims against all defendants must be dismissed. (R. 480-487)

The circuit court also held that the two (2) year statute of limitations under Miss. Code Ann.

§ 15-1-36, had expired and dismissed the Plaintiff's claims with prejudice.

Aggrieved by the dismissal, the Plaintiff-Appellant has brought this appeal. (R. 592-593)

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 9, 2004, Carlton McClain was sent to Bolivar Medical Center by his family physician for a thoracentesis that was to be performed that day. He was referred to Steven G. Clark, M.D. for the procedure. (S.V.2: 4) On the date of admission, Dr. Clark was not available to McClain, chest x-rays ordered by the referring physician were not obtained, and the thoracentesis was not performed. (S.V.2: 4)

On the morning of April 10, 2004, at approximately 10:30 a.m., Dr. Bennie Wright performed the thoracentesis on Mr. McClain. During the procedure, twice the safe amount of pleural fluid was removed resulting in pneumothorax and failure of lung re-expansion, which required that Mr. McClain undergo surgery on April 12, 2004, to insert a chest tube for re-expansion of his lung. (S.V.2: 4, 5)

On April 10, 2004, at 6:33 p.m., Dr. Clark dictated into Mr. McClain's medical records that he had performed an admission history and physical examination on the patient and his plan "is to have a thoracentesis done on the patient." (R. 333, 334, S.V.2: 5) Curiously, however, by the time of the purported dictation, Mr. McClain had already received a thoracentesis from Dr. Wright, approximately eight (8) hours earlier. (R. 333, 334, S.V.2: 5)

Dr. Clark's written record of such purported physical examination indicates Mr. McClains' lungs were "clear with air movement throughout without wheezes." (R. 333, 334, S.V: 5) This assessment is incompatible with Dr. Clark's own diagnosis of right pleural effusion and congestive heart failure. (R. 333, 334, S.V.2. 5) It also contradicts the nurses notes and the medical report by Mr. McClain's family physician. (R. 333, 334, S.V.2: 5)

Leanora McClain never left the hospital during her husband's entire hospital stay. (R. 325-328) Mrs. McClain and her adult son, Carlton Edward McCain, both state that Dr. Clark never came to the hospital to see Carlton McClain prior to April 12, 2004, a factual assertion which is compatible with the nurses notes. (R. 326, SV.2: 5)

On April 9, 2004, Mr. McClain drove himself and his wife to Bolivar Medical Center, and walked in under his own control. (S.V.2: 6) When he was discharged on April 21, 2004, Mr.

McClain was unable to walk or talk, could not feed himself, had to wear a diaper, and had to be turned every thirty (30) minutes. (S.V.2: 6) He was discharged with sepsis, pleural effusion, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) with exacerbation, and pneumonia. (S.V.2: 6)

On May 8, 2004, Carlton McClain again presented to Bolivar Medical Center with shortness of breath and was re-admitted. (S.V.2: 6, R.E. 11) Dr. Tarence Wade, who was working as an emergency room physician that day, inserted a right sided chest tube to remove fluid from Mr. McClain's lungs. (R. 123-130) Diagnostic tests revealed that the chest tube had marked kinking at the insertion site in the right lateral pleural cavity, and the kinking was cause for the tube's malfunction. (R. 133)

On May 9, 2004, x-rays revealed that Mr. McClain suffered from persistent large right mid and lower pleural effusion, and the x-rays also showed that the suboptimal positioned chest tube with kinking remained. (R. 132) Mr. McClain's condition worsened and he developed a complex loculated fluid collection. Dr. Wade and Dr. Clark allowed the suboptimal positioned chest tube with an approximately 90 degree kink to remain until May 13, 2004. (R. 133, 134)

On May 15, 2004, Mrs. McClain went into the hallway to find a doctor to see her husband because he was in severe pain and was having difficult and labored breathing. Dr. Clark never saw Mr. McClain on May 15, 2004. (S.V.2: 7) On May 16, 2004, Mr. McClain was non responsive the entire day; yet, he was not seen by Dr. Clark or any other physician. (S.V.2: 7)

On May 17, 2004, at approximately 10:45 a.m., Mr. McClain coded. (S.V.2: 7) At 11:00 a.m., Dr. Clark gave orders to transfer Mr. McClain to ICU, and at 11:09 a.m. he was pronounced dead, as a result of congestive heart failure due to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) secondary to pleural effusion. (S.V.2: 7)

Prior to filing the Complaint, counsel for the Plaintiff reviewed the facts of the case, and on June 2, 2005, sent a letter to McClain's consulting expert. (E. 4-5, R.E. 3) On October 26, 2005, Plaintiff's counsel received the consulting expert's written opinion and concluded on the basis of her review and the consultation that there was a reasonable basis for the commencement of this action. (E. 6-8, R.E. 4) Counsel for the Plaintiff also had a second consulting expert review the facts of the case and submit a written opinion regarding the case. (E. 1-3, 16-23, R.E. 5)

On January 5, 2006, pursuant to § 15-1-36(15), Miss. Code Ann. (Rev. 2002), Dr. Wright and Dr. Clark were served with written notice of Plaintiff's intention to file a lawsuit, the legal basis of the claim, and the type loss sustained. (R. 111-114, 146-159, R. E. 6) On January 5, 2006, pursuant to § 11-1-58, Miss. Code Ann. (Amended 2002), both physicians were served with certificates of review verifying that Plaintiff's counsel had reviewed the facts of the case, consulted with at least one medical expert knowledgeable in the relevant issues, and concluded on the basis of the review and consultation that there is a good faith basis for bringing the lawsuit. (R. 111-114, 146-159, R.E. 7)

On January 9, 2006, and January 10, 2006, the Plaintiff served Bolivar Medical Center and Dr. Wade respectively her written notices of claim and certificates of review. (R. 111-114, 115-119, R.E. 6, 7)

On January 30, 2006, Plaintiff's counsel received a letter from Dr. Wades's insurance carrier, Western Litigation Specialists, Inc., requesting copies of medical records, medical bills, a description of specific allegations against Dr. Wade, and any additional information that would assist them in review and evaluation of Plaintiff's claim. (R. 140, R.E. 9)

6

On February 8, 2006, counsel for Plaintiff received a letter from Drs. Clark and Wright's insurance carrier, Medical Assurance Company, requesting specific allegations of negligence against Drs. Clark and Wright with supporting opinions outlined by the reviewing medical expert, documentation of medical and special expenses, and a specific demand for settlement. (R. 228, R.E.

10)

On February 16, 2006, Plaintiff's settlement demand with a copy of Mr. McClain's medical records, bills, and Plaintiff's consulting expert's supporting opinion were forwarded to Dr. Wade's insurance carrier. (E. 9, R.E. 10) On February 28, 2006, a copy of Mr. McClain's medical records, bills, and Plaintiff's consulting expert's supporting opinion were forwarded to Drs. Clark and Wright's insurance carrier. (R. 204, R.E. 11)

On March 13, 2006, Drs. Clark and Wright sent Plaintiff's counsel a copy of the letter that the carrier forwarded to the Defendants with a copy of Plaintiff's settlement package. (E. 14, R.E. 10)

On or about April 2, 2006, counsel for the Plaintiff called the claim representative handling the claim for Drs. Clark and Wright regarding settlement. Counsel was informed that Dr. Clark did not wish to make a settlement.

On April 7, 2006, Plaintiff's original wrongful death lawsuit was filed and an amended complaint filed on April 27, 2006.

A chronology of the significant events is as follows:

DATE EVENT

05/17/04

Carlton McClain dies as a result of negligent medical care and treatment by Dr. Clark, Dr. Wright, Dr. Wade and Bolivar

7

Medical Center. 01/05/06 Dr. Clark was served with Plaintiff's Notice of Claim and Certificate of Review, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58. Dr. Wright was served with Plaintiff's Notice of Claim and 01/05/06 Certificate of Review, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 15-1-<u>36(15) and 11-1-58.</u> 01/09/06 Bolivar Medical Center was served with Plaintiff's Notice of Claim and Certificate of Review, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58. 01/10/06 Dr. Wade was served with Plaintiff's Notice of Claim and Certificate of Review, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 15-1-36(15) and 11-1-58. Plaintiff's counsel received letter from Dr. Wade's insurance 01/30/06 carrier in response to the Notice and Certificate. 02/08/06 Plaintiff's counsel received letter from Dr. Clark and Dr. Wright's insurance carrier in response to the Notice and Certificate. Per request from Dr. Wade's insurance carrier, a copy of 02/16/06

8

McClain's medical records, bills, and Plaintiff's consulting

expert's supporting opinion were forwarded to the company.

02/28/06	Per request from Drs. Clark and Wright's insurance carrier, a
	copy of McClain's medical records, bills, and Plaintiff's
	consulting expert's supporting opinion were forwarded to the
	company.
03/13/06	Plaintiff's counsel received copy of letter forwarded to Drs.
	Clark and Wright's by their insurance carrier personally
	supplying said Doctors with McClain's medical records,
	bills, and Plaintiff's consulting expert's supporting opinion.
04/07/06	Plaintiff files a wrongful death Complaint against Dr. Clark,
	Dr. Wright, Dr. Wade and Bolivar Medical Center.
04/17/06	Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint against the Defendants.
05/08/06	Dr. Wade was served the Summons and Complaint.
05/11/06	Dr. Clark, Dr. Wright, and Bolivar Medical Center were each
	served a Summons and Complaint.
05/30/06	Dr. Clark filed his Motion to Dismiss.
06/02/06	Dr. Wright filed his Motion, Defenses and Separate Answer.
06/09/06	Dr. Wade filed his Answer and Motion to Dismiss.
06/12/06	Bolivar Medical Center filed its Motion to Dismiss and
	Answer and Defenses.
06/26/06	Dr. Wright filed his Motion to Dismiss.
06/26/06	Plaintiff filed her Response to Bolivar Medical Center and Dr.
	Wright's Motions to Dismiss.

!

.

' - -

ĩ

i.

6

λ÷:

ŧ i

ι.

ł

9

06/26/06	Plaintiff filed her Response to Dr. Wade's Motion to Dismiss.
06/27/06	Plaintiff filed her Response to Dr. Clark's Motion to Dismiss.
06/30/06	Plaintiff's Certificate filed with the Court.
06/30/06	Plaintiff filed her Response to Dr. Wright's Motion to
	Dismiss.
07/13/06	Dr. Clark filed his Rebuttal in Support of Motion to Dismiss
	and Notice of Conversion to Motion for Summary Judgment.
08/09/06	Plaintiff filed her Response in Opposition to Dr. Clark's
	Rebuttal in Support of Motion to Dismiss and Notice of
	Conversion to Motion for Summary Judgment.
09/06/06	Dr. Clark filed his Surrebuttal in Support of Motion for
	Summary Judgment
01/08/07	Dr. Wade filed his Motion to Dismiss and/or for Summary
	Judgment.
01/11/07	Dr. Clark files his Supplement in Support of Motion for
	Summary Judgment.
01/11/07	Hearing was held on Dr. Clark's Motion to Dismiss and/or for
	Summary Judgment.
01/23/07	Dr. Clark file his Supplement to Motion for Summary
	Judgment.
01/25/07	Plaintiff files her Motion to Hold the Ruling on Dr. Clark's
	Motion for Summary Judgment in Abeyance Pending

Discovery.

01/29/07	Plaintiff files her Response to Dr. Wade's Motion to Dismiss
	and/or for Summary Judgment.
02/02/07	Dr. Clark files his Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Hold
	Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment in Abeyance
	Pending Discovery.
02/07/07	Dr. Wade filed his Reply to Plaintiff's Response to Motion to
	Dismiss and/or Summary Judgment.
02/09/07	Hearing was held on Drs. Wade and Wright's Motions to
	Dismiss and/or for Summary Judgment; and, Plaintiff's
	Motion to Hold the Ruling on Dr. Clark's Motion in
	Abeyance Pending Discovery.
02/16/07	Order filed Granting the Defendants' Motions to Dismiss.

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Whether service of a certificate of consultation upon the Defendants and providing the Defendants with Plaintiff's consulting expert's opinion pursuant to <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (7)</u>, prior to the filing of the Complaint constitutes sufficient compliance with the provisions of the statue so as to avoid a dismissal with prejudice of Plaintiff's medical malpractice claims against the Defendants?

The provisions of <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58</u> state, in relevant part, that: the complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the Plaintiff's attorney; and, allows the plaintiff, in lieu of serving a certificate required by this section to provide the defendant or defendants with expert information in the form required by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

In enacting the statute, the Legislature intended that an expert consultation and a certificate of consultation verifying same to be a condition precedent to filing the lawsuit and the record is clear that the Plaintiff provided the Defendants with a Certificate, along with her consulting expert's opinion prior to the filing of the Complaint.

Plaintiff submits that by consulting not one but two experts and by providing the Defendants with both a Certificate of consultation and the actual report of the expert prior to the filing of the Complaint, she has much more than complied with the directive of <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58</u>, which requires that the health care provider be provided with a Certificate of the "good faith" basis of the suit.

Whether McClain's claims are now time-barred by the two (2) year medical malpractice statute of limitations as codified at <u>Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (2)</u>, as amended?

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 (2) state, in relevant part, that: For any claim accruing on or after July 1, 1998, and except as otherwise provided in this section, no claim in tort may be brought against a health care provider for injuries or wrongful death arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services unless it is filed within two (2) years from the date the alleged act, omission or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered.

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