IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LEANORA McCLAIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CARLTON McCLAIN, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-00316

STEVEN G. CLARK, M.D.; BENNIE G. WRIGHT, M.D.; TARENCE E. WADE, M.D.; BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER; AND JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-5

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BOLIVAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES TARENCE E. WADE, M.D. AND BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER

James A. Becker, Jr., I Anastasia Jones, N WATKINS & EAGER, PLLC 400 East Capitol Street, Suite 300 Post Office Box 650 Jackson, MS 39205 (601)948-6470

WISE CARTER CHILD & CARAWAY
Professional Association
401 East Capitol St., 6th Floor

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellees, Dr. Tarence Wade and Bolivar Medical Center, assert that the Order of the trial court should be affirmed because Appellant McClain did not provide a certificate of review along with the Complaint or Amended Complaint upon filing as required pursuant to §11-1-58 of the Mississippi Code. MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58. Furthermore, Appellees contend that case law is clear that the aforementioned statute requires strict compliance, as opposed to substantial compliance, as argued by McClain. As a result, McClain's claim is now time-barred because the applicable two-year statute of limitations has expired. MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 15-1-36(2), 15-1-36(15). In addition, the Certificate of Review which Plaintiff filed with the court on June 30, 2006, was not only untimely filed but also was woefully inadequate because it failed to comply with the statute by not stating that the expert with whom Plaintiff consulted was qualified to testify as to the standard of care applicable in this case. MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36(1)(a); R. 218, R.E. Ex. 2. Further, Plaintiff failed to come forward with expert testimony to support her claims of medical negligence when requested to do so by the Appellees in discovery.

ARGUMENT

I. MCCLAIN IS IN ERROR IN ASSERTING THAT A CERTIFICATE OF REVIEW WAS PROVIDED TO DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58.

It is undisputed that a certificate of review, which is required by Miss. Code Ann. §11-1-58(1)(a), did not accompany either the Complaint, when it was filed on April 7, 2006, or the Amended Compliant, when it was filed on April 27, 2006. R. 1, 14; R.E. Ex. 3, 4. It is also undisputed that an acceptable alternative to a certificate of review, pursuant to §11-1-58(7), did not accompany either the Complaint or Amended Complaint. R. 1, 14; R.E. Ex. 3, 4.

The relevant procedural mandates of §11-1-58 read as follows:

(1) In any action against a licensed physician, health care provider or health care practitioner for injuries or wrongful death arising out of

the course of medical, surgical or other professional services where expert testimony is otherwise required by law, the complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the attorney for the Plaintiff declaring that:

- (a) The attorney has reviewed the facts of the case and has consulted with at least one (1) expert qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence who is qualified to give expert testimony as to standard of care or negligence and who the attorney reasonably believes is knowledgeable in the relevant issues involved in the particular action, and that the attorney has concluded on the basis of such review and consultation that there is a reasonable basis for the commencement of such action. ...
- (7) The Plaintiff, in lieu of serving a certificate required by this section, may provide the defendant or defendants with expert information in the form required by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Nothing in this section requires the disclosure of any "consulting" or nontrial expert, except as expressly stated herein.

MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 11-1-58(1)(a), 11-1-58(7).

A. McClain's Certificate of Review Does Not Comply With the Statutory Requirements of MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58 (1) Because It Was Not Timely Filed.

McClain contends that the certificate of review supplied with the Notice of Claim, dated December 29, 2005, was provided to defendants pursuant to the above-enumerated statute. R. 135, 139. However, because said certificate did not accompany the Complaint or the Amended Complaint, the certificate fails to comply with the statutory provisions and requirements of either §11-1-58(1) or §11-1-58(7) and therefore was not provided pursuant to said statute.

Furthermore, it is important to note that compliance with Section 11-1-58(1) by providing the certificate of review along with the Complaint at the time the Complaint is filed assures that the court, as well as the defendants, is provided a copy of the certificate of review for the court file, which would be a part of the court record, in order to give the court, as well as the defendants, notice

that plaintiff's counsel had consulted with a qualified expert and that there was found to be a reasonable basis for the claim. Because a certificate of review in this case was not filed with the Complaint or the Amended Complaint, in accordance with the statute, said certificate was not a part of the court's record and, as a result, the Circuit Court of Bolivar County did not receive notice that plaintiff's counsel had consulted with a qualified expert and said Circuit Court did not have the assurance that plaintiff's counsel found that there was a reasonable basis for the claim, as contemplated by the legislature and affirmed by the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Center, Inc.*, 931 So. 2d 583, 589 (Miss., 2006). The Plaintiff did not file the Certificate of Review with the Circuit Court of Bolivar Count until June 30, 2006, only after defendants Drs. Wright and Wade filed their Motions to Dismiss, asserting the failure to file a certificate of review with the Complaint as a basis for dismissal. R. 53, 74, 218, 522, 548; Ex. 2. Thus, the Certificate of Review did not become a part of the court's record until that time, which was almost three months after the Complaint was filed and more than two months after the Amended Complaint was filed.

B. McClain's Certificate of Review Does Not Comply With the Statutory Requirements of MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58 (1)(a) Because It Does Not State That a Qualified Expert Reviewed the Case.

In addition to the fact that McClain's Certificate of Review was not timely filed pursuant to Section11-1-58 (1) of the Mississippi Code, it also failed to make the declarations pursuant to the statutory requirements regarding the expert's review of the case set forth by Section11-1-58 (1)(a). MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58 (1)(a). The Certificate of Review failed to state that the expert with whom the attorney consulted was qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence to give expert testimony as to the standard of care or negligence.

¹ The fact that the Certificate of Review was not a part of the court's records was discussed and argued at the hearing on February 9, 2007. Tr. 88, lines 23-26.

Id. The Certificate of Review which was supplied with the Notice of Claim on December 29, 2005, and which was finally filed with the court on June 30, 2006, stated as follows:

I, Alma Walls, do hereby certify that I have reviewed the facts of this case and have had this matter reviewed by a knowledgeable medical expert who opines that the defendants identified herein have breached the standard of care. On the basis of this review and consultation, I have concluded that there is a reasonable basis for bringing this action.

R. 218, 418, 448; R.E. Ex. 2. Said Certificate of Review says nothing regarding the qualifications of the expert and it does not say that the expert is qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence to give expert testimony as to the relevant standard of care, as required by Section11-1-58 (1)(a). Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (1)(a). This issue was argued by Dr. Wade in his Reply to Plaintiff's Response to Motion to Dismiss and/or Summary Judgment. R. 579, 580.

Thus, said Certificate of Review does not comply with the statutory requirements to establish that the expert consulted is qualified to give the expert testimony. The Certificate of Review provided is therefore inadequate pursuant to Section11-1-58 (1)(a). MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58(1)(a).

II. MCCLAIN HAS MISSTATED THE LAW IN ASSERTING THAT MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58(1) REQUIRES ONLY SUFFICIENT COMPLIANCE.

McClain asserts that by providing a certificate of review or consultation prior to the time the Complaint was filed, that the intent of Section 11-1-58 (1) was satisfied and that there was therefore "sufficient" compliance. Appellant's Brief, pp. 11, 16.

However, McClain has misconstrued the law because sufficient compliance is not the standard when interpreting Section 11-1-58 (1), which was recently analyzed by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Walker*. *Walker* held that the time requirement provided by Section 11-1-58 is

"mandatory" and that the record is to be examined to determine "compliance or non-compliance" only. *Id.* at 589 (¶¶ 17, 20). The Mississippi Supreme Court has never stated that sufficient compliance is even an option, as McClain argues.

Moreover, the *Walker* Court held that a Plaintiff may comply with either Section11-1-58(1) (i.e., file an "Attorney Certificate") or Section 11-1-58(7) (i.e., file the "expert's information [such as] written report or records.") *Id.* at 589-90 (¶22). Regardless of which option the plaintiff chooses, the referenced documentation of expert consultation must accompany Plaintiff's Complaint. *Id.* at 590 (¶24).

The Supreme Court even more recently affirmed Walker in Arceo v. Tolliver. Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d 691, 697 (Miss. 2006). Arceo held that compliance with the requirements of the statutes regarding medical malpractice claims are mandatory, and affirmed the Walker court for granting the medical provider's motion for summary judgment based on plaintiff's failure to comply with the provisions of Section 11-1-58, which require that an attorney's certificate of review or consultation with a qualified medical expert be filed with the Complaint. Id.; MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-1-58.

Walker does not compromise the time requirement of Section 11-1-58 and is unequivocal that the Complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the attorney for the plaintiff. Walker, 931 So. 2d at 590. Furthermore, because the language of SECTION11-1-58 is not ambiguous, Walker reiterated that when interpreting a statute that is not ambiguous, the Mississippi Supreme Court will apply the plain meaning of the statute. *Id.*; Arceo v. Tolliver, 949 So.2d at 695 (citing Claypool v. Mladineo, 724 So.2d 373, 382 (Miss.1998)).

Ignorance of the law or even well-meaning non-compliance is no excuse for the failure to comply with statutory requirements. *Griffis v. State*, 797 So.2d 299, 305 (Miss. App. 2001). This

was the ruling of the trial court, which should be upheld. Any other conclusion or result will simply promote confusion among the practioners of the state and reward statutory non-compliance.

III. MCCLAIN'S CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AS ENUMERATED IN MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-36 (2).

Because all of the allegations against Dr. Wade concern conduct on May 8, 2004, and the date of Mr. McClain's death is May 17, 2004, the statute of limitations would expire, at the latest on July 17, 2006, which is two years and 60 days from the date of his death. MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 15-1-36(2), 15-1-36(15).

Not surprisingly, there is no support in Mississippi law for the proposition that the filing of a complaint which is defective on its face tolls the statute of limitations. As neither a statutorily mandated certificate of review nor a disclosure of expert opinions in conformance with Miss. R. Civ. Pro. 26(b)(4) accompanied either of Plaintiff's Complaints (initial or amended), as required by Section 11-1-58, the two year statute of limitations expired as the trial court found. Thus the trial court was correct in dismissing all claims against the Defendants.

IV. DR. WADE AND BOLIVAR MEDICAL CENTER ARE ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE MCCLAIN HAS FAILED TO NAME AN EXPERT AGAINST THEM.

In addition to the fact that dismissal is warranted for Plaintiff's filing of a deficient Complaint, Dr. Wade and Bolivar Medical Center are also entitled to summary judgment because Plaintiff has failed to name a qualified expert who will testify that either of them failed to meet the standard of care in treating Mr. McClain and that this failure was the cause of injury to Carlton McClain. The law in Mississippi is well settled that in a case alleging medical malpractice, the plaintiff may not rest upon his or her own allegations but must present expert medical opinions that the defendant failed in some particular respect to meet the appropriate standard of care for physicians

of like practice. Each of these Appellees propounded discovery to the Plaintiff and no response designating an expert was timely received pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 62, 71.

The case of *Dazet v. Bass*, 254 So.2d 183 (Miss. 1971) sets forth the standard by which a question of fact is created in a medical malpractice case. In *Dazet*, the plaintiff offered no expert testimony to support her position at trial. A preemptory instruction was granted to the defendants, as the trial court held that, without expert testimony, the plaintiff's proof did not make an issue for the jury. The court held that, in a medical malpractice case, negligence cannot be shown without expert medical testimony that the defendant failed in some specific manner to use ordinary care and skill. Without such testimony, there is no question of fact, and the Supreme Court upheld the granting of the preemptory instruction. *Id.* at 187.

Not only must the plaintiff produce expert medical testimony which articulates the duty of care the physician owes, the expert must also "identif[y] the particular(s) wherein the physician breached that duty and caused injury to the plaintiff patient," otherwise the plaintiff's claim for negligence must fail. *Phillips v. Hull*, 516 So. 2d 488, 491 (Miss. 1987). The Court in *Hull* found that plaintiff's claim for negligence was properly dismissed where there was no expert testimony regarding an area not within the common knowledge of laymen.

Likewise, in the case of *Kilpatrick v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, 461 So.2d 765 (Miss. 1984), the trial court dismissed a medical malpractice action when the plaintiff failed, through discovery, to designate an expert witness. The Court recognized that expert testimony is essential to a case of this type, holding that negligence in a medical malpractice action cannot be established without an expert. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that the plaintiff had had ample time to furnish the defendant the name of an expert but had not done so. Therefore, the Court upheld

dismissal of the action. *Id.* at 768. The Mississippi Supreme Court has reiterated this on numerous occasions. *E.g.*, *Travis v. Stewart*, 680 So.2d 214 (Miss. 1996); *Hammond v. Grissom*, 470 So. 2d 1049, 1053 (Miss. 1985); *Hall v. Hilbun*, 466 So. 2d 856, 874 (Miss. 1985); *Phillips v. Hull*, 516 So.2d at 491.

Furthermore, in *Cole ex rel. Cole v. Buckner*, 819 So.2d 527 (Miss. 2002), the Mississippi Supreme Court determined that dismissal of a case when the plaintiff had failed to respond to requests for admissions was appropriate. Plaintiff was not allowed to file untimely responses to avoid dismissal of the case. *Cole ex rel. Cole v. Buckner*, 819 So.2d at 531.

It is absolutely required that the Plaintiff support the claim against these Appellees with medical testimony. Plaintiff's assertions as to the various allegations of negligence would cause one to assume that medical testimony was relied upon in drafting the Complaint and "Notice" to the various physicians. However, Plaintiff has failed to come forward with appropriate proof in a reasonable time and in compliance with the obligation to answer or object to Interrogatories within thirty (30) days of service, and, therefore, this cause should be dismissed. No medical expert has been identified to substantiate Plaintiff's claims of medical negligence. It is apparent at this time, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 56, that the Plaintiff is unable to substantiate the claims of medical negligence and failure to meet the standard of care and that this action should be dismissed.

Under Mississippi law, in a medical malpractice action, negligence cannot be established without expert medical testimony from a qualified medical expert that the Defendant breached the standard of care, and that such breach was a proximate cause of injury to the Plaintiff.

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